IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MS DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

APPELLANT

V.

CAUSE NO. 2006-CC-01485

JAMES R. TUTTLE

APPELLEE

**ON APPEAL FROM THE
CIRCUIT COURT OF SUNFLOWER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI**

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

JIM HOOD
MISSISSIPPI ATTORNEY GENERAL

DAVID K. SCOTT
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MS BAR NO. [REDACTED]
723 N. PRESIDENT STREET
JACKSON, MS 39202
PH: (601) 359-5672
FAX: (601) 359-5735

JANE L. MAPP, MS BAR # [REDACTED]
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
510 GEORGE STREET, SUITE 212
JACKSON, MS 39202
PH: (601) 359-5770
FAX: (601) 359-5735

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

ISSUE

I. Whether the Circuit Court Erred in Reversing the Decision of the Employee Appeals Board and Ordering MDOC to Pay Tuttle Backpay for Third-party Employment?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Effective April 20, 2004 the Appellant, James Tuttle, was terminated from his position as a Correctional Vocational Education Instructor with the Mississippi Department of Corrections. He appealed this termination to the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board ("EAB"). Following a December 7, 2004 hearing before EAB Hearing Officer, Falton O. Mason, Jr., Tuttle was "reinstated to his previous position, with all back pay and benefits, subject to set off of any sums received from other sources." (R1:21; RE:6)¹.

On or about May 24, 2004, Tuttle, through his attorney, James W. Burgoon, Jr., filed a motion with the EAB entitled, "Motion to Enforce Order Requiring Payment of Portion of Back Pay Withheld Following Reinstatement; for Interest; Sanctions; and Attorney Fees." In the Motion Tuttle argued that while MDOC did reinstate all of his benefits and pay him a portion of his back pay, he was not reimbursed for the wages he would have earned as a night school vocational instructor at Parchman. (R1:24). MDOC filed a Response to this motion arguing that it had complied with the January 4, 2005 order requiring MDOC to reinstate Tuttle to his position with all back pay and benefits. MDOC denied that it was required to pay Tuttle back pay for wages he may have earned as a night school instructor at the Vocational Center since it constituted employment with a third party and MDOC had never compensated the Appellant for this work. (R1:33).

¹Citations to the Record will be in the form of (RX:YY) with "X" representing the volume number and YY representing the page number. Citations to the Record Excerpts will be in the form of (RE:X) with "X" representing the Tab number where the document can be found.

A hearing on the motion was held before Hearing Officer Mason on August 4, 2005. At the hearing, Tuttle testified that he worked at Parchman as an instructor teaching diesel mechanics from 7:30 a.m. until 3:30 p.m. and that MDOC did reimburse him for back pay for this work. (R3:3-4). Tuttle stated that he also taught a night class at Parchman for which he received a paycheck from Mississippi Delta Community College ("MDCC"). (RE: 4). When he was reinstated MDOC did not reimburse Tuttle for wages he would have earned teaching this night class. (R3:4-5). According to Tuttle, following his suspension and subsequent termination by MDOC he was not able to teach the night class because he was restricted from entering the vocational building. (R3:5-6).

On cross-examination, Tuttle reaffirmed that his paycheck for the night school classes came from Mississippi Delta Community College. (R3:9). Tuttle stated that he never received any compensation from the Department of Corrections for teaching night school. (R3:10-11).

Tuttle called June Williams, Personnel Coordinator for Mississippi Delta Community College ("MDCC") as a witness. Williams testified that MDCC and MDOC had an agreement whereby MDOC would send times sheets for the night school instructors to MDCC and MDCC cut the paychecks for the instructors. MDOC would then reimburse MDCC for the wages plus expenses. (R3:14-16).

On cross-examination Williams testified that Tuttle received a W-2 statement of earnings from the community college for his night school earnings. (R3:17). Williams stated

that this was not a unique arrangement in that MDCC received funds from third party sources such as the federal government to pay other MDCC workers and employees. (R3:18). When questioned about the ultimate source of the funds used to pay Tuttle for his night school instruction, Williams testified that according to a letter from Mike Corbin, Division Director I for MDOC, the majority of the money MDOC used to reimburse MDCC for these instructors came from the Department of Education and the remaining funds came from the Inmate Welfare Fund. (R3:21-22; Exhibit 4). Williams testified that the arrangement was made because “the Personnel Board ruled that the Department of Correction [sic] teachers could not be paid directly from the Department of Corrections from [sic] their evening jobs.” (R3:20).

On or about September 7, 2005, Hearing Officer Mason issued an Order denying Tuttle’s Motion, finding that Tuttle was not entitled to back pay from MDOC for his night school classes since he was paid for that work by a third party. (R1:41; RE:5). Feeling aggrieved, Tuttle filed his Request for Review by the Full Board on September 13, 2005. Thereafter, he also filed a “Motion for Reconsideration by Hearing Officer of, in the Alternative, for Recusal from Full Board Review.” Subsequently, on December 20, 2005, the Full Board entered an Order affirming the decision of the Hearing Officer and denying Tuttle’s request for recusal. (R1:57; RE:4) Still aggrieved, Tuttle filed his Notice of Appeal the Circuit Court of Sunflower County, Mississippi. (R2:3).

The Circuit Court entered an Order dated August 9, 2006, reversing the decision of the EAB and finding that “Tuttle was an employee of MDOC, not MDCC; even though not paid directly by MDOC, ultimately MDOC did provide the salary for the night instructors.” and therefore the decision not to pay Tuttle back pay for his night school classes was a denial of his statutory rights. (R2:9-13; RE:3).

Feeling aggrieved by the decision of the Circuit Court, MDOC filed its Notice of Appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court and this matter now ensues. (R2:15).

BURDEN OF PROOF AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

The general rule for judicial review of an administrative agency’s findings and decision is, “[a]n agency’s conclusions must remain undisturbed unless the agency’s order 1) is not supported by substantial evidence, 2) is arbitrary or capricious, 3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, or 4) violates one’s constitutional rights” *Allen v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission*, 639 So.2d 904, 906 (Miss. 1994). “Moreover, there is a rebuttable presumption in favor of the action of an administrative agency and the burden of proof is upon one challenging its actions.” *Ricks v. Mississippi State Dept. of Health*, 719 So.2d 173, 177 (Miss. 1998).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There was sufficient evidence to support the Hearing Officer’s finding that Tuttle is not entitled to receive back pay from MDOC for his part-time night class instruction since his night school wages were paid by a third party. The Circuit Judge seemingly based his

decision to reverse on the fact the MDOC reimbursed MDCC for Tuttle's night school pay, while at the same time ignoring the evidence that the money actually came not from MDOC's budget, but from the Department of Education and the Inmate Welfare Fund. If it does not matter where MDOC got the money to reimburse MDCC for Tuttle's wages, it should not matter where MDCC got the money to pay those wages in the first way. Accordingly, the Circuit Judge's decision should be reversed and the EAB Hearing Officer's decision dismissing Tuttle's motion should be reinstated.

ARGUMENT

I. Whether the Circuit Court Erred in Reversing the Decision of the Employee Appeals Board and Ordering MDOC to Pay Tuttle Backpay for Third-party Employment?

Tuttle was employed full-time by MDOC to teach daytime vocational classes at Parchman. He also taught classes at Parchman part-time at night, but was paid for this work by Mississippi Delta Community College ("MDCC"). When he was terminated by MDOC he was unable to continue his part-time work for MDCC because he was not allowed in the vocational building. After being reinstated MDOC paid Tuttle back pay for his full-time MDOC position, but did not reimburse him for lost wages from his part-time job for which he would have been paid by MDCC. The EAB Hearing Officer affirmed MDOC's actions regarding this matter finding that Tuttle was paid for teaching these night classes by a third party and thus was not entitled to back pay from MDOC.

The Circuit Court, in reversing the decision of the EAB, held that since MDOC reimbursed MDCC for his night school instruction he was an MDOC employee and therefore MDOC was required to reimburse him for the wages lost in connection with this job as well as for his full-time position. However, if this argument is allowed to run its full course, the evidence shows that MDOC was not the ultimate source of Tuttle's night school income. The documentary evidence showed and Tuttle's own witness, June Williams, testified that the money that MDOC used to reimburse MDCC for Tuttle's wages came primarily from the Department of Education and that the remainder came for the Inmate Welfare Fund.²

The EAB is a creature of statute and therefore only has the powers specifically granted to it by the legislature. *Miss. Employment Security Commission v. Culbertson*, 832 So.2d 519, 530 (Miss. 2002). Since MDOC and not MDCC was the responding agency to Tuttle's EAB appeal, the EAB did not have the authority to grant him back pay for missed work for which he would have been paid by MDCC. To order MDOC to pay Tuttle back pay for third party employment would amount to an award of damages, which the EAB has no authority to grant. Instead Tuttle, knowing that he was paid for his night classes by MDCC, should have made the school a party to his EAB appeal.

The Hearing Officer in his discretion awarded Tuttle back pay, but held that he was

²The Inmate Welfare Fund is established pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. 47-5-158. The monies in the fund are to be used for the benefit and welfare of inmates. The fund is derived from monies earned from interest on inmate deposits, the operation of inmate canteens, and from a portion of the commissions earned through inmate telephone calls. The monies in the Inmate Welfare Fund are not part of MDOC's general budget.

not entitled to back pay for his night classes. The Hearing Officer found that a third party and not MDOC paid Tuttle for teaching night classes. In his Order the Hearing Officer found in part as follows:

The documentary evidence clearly reflects that the Department of Education grants to the Mississippi Department of Corrections funds for the teaching of the evening classes at the Mississippi Department of Corrections, the same evidence reflects that the grant is usually not sufficient to cover the entire fiscal year, and that the Mississippi Department of Corrections uses funds from the Inmate Welfare Fund. The fact is that the Appealing Party and all others who teach evening classes do not receive payment directly from the Mississippi Department of Corrections, but do receive their payment directly from Mississippi Delta Community College.

It is apparent that the majority of these funds paid through Mississippi Delta Community College, come from a grant from the Department of Education a, with a smaller portion coming from the Inmate Welfare Fund. There is no evidence as to what portions come from which source, however, all funds come through the Mississippi Delta Community College, a third party.

Both Tuttle and the Circuit Court maintain that since MDCC was reimbursed for the wages they paid to Tuttle then he could not be considered an employee of the school. This argument is spurious since that same logic could be used to say Tuttle was not an employee of MDOC for the purposes of his night school classes since the funds used to pay his wages actually came from the Department of Education and the inmate's themselves. If Tuttle insists on following the money trail, it should be followed to its origin. Tuttle should not be allowed to pick the most beneficial stop along the way. However, if as Tuttle argues, it does not matter where MDOC got the money to reimburse MDCC for his wages, then it should not matter where MDCC got the money to pay those wages in the first places. MDCC, as the agency that drafted Tuttle's check and issued him a W-2, was in fact his employer.

Furthermore, the administrative rules established pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 25-9-129, *et seq.* state that the EAB “may reinstate a prevailing party in employment with his or her responding agency and restore all his or her employee rights and benefits including back pay, medical leave and personal leave.” *See*, Mississippi State Employee Handbook, page 87 (Rev. 2005). There is nothing in the statute that requires that the EAB grant a prevailing party back pay. The statute uses the permissive “may” therefore whether or not to grant back pay within the hearing officer’s discretion. In this case the EAB hearing officer specifically stated in his September 7, 2005 that his award of back pay did not include back pay for Tuttle’s night classes. Therefore, even if the Court concludes that Tuttle was an employee of MDOC as it relates to his night classes, the EAB still should have been affirmed because it was within the hearing officer’s discretion not to award Tuttle back pay for his night classes.

In his arguments to the EAB and the Circuit Court Tuttle provided absolutely no supporting authority for his contention that even though Tuttle was paid for his night school work through MDCC that it still amounted to MDOC employment and thus he was entitled to back pay from MDOC. Tuttle cited only one case in an attempt to support his argument. In *Boyd v. Crosby Lumber & Mfg. Co.*, 166 So.2d 106 (Miss. 1964), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that for worker’s compensations purposes “that the right to control, not actual control of, the details of the work is the primary test of whether a person is an independent contractor or an employee.” *Id.* at 440. This case is not on point as it deals

exclusively with worker's compensation law, not state government personnel law." Tuttle cited no case to support his argument that upon reinstatement to a state service position by the EAB, the employing agency is required to reimburse the employee for lost wages that would have been paid by a third party.

As stated *supra*, the general rule for judicial review of an administrative agency's findings and decision is, "[a]n agency's conclusions must remain undisturbed unless the agency's order 1) is not supported by substantial evidence, 2) is arbitrary or capricious, 3) is beyond the scope or power granted to the agency, or 4) violates one's constitutional rights" *Allen v. Mississippi Employment Security Commission*, 639 So.2d 904, 906 (Miss. 1994). There is sufficient evidence to support the Hearing Officer's finding that Tuttle is not entitled to receive back pay from MDOC for his part-time night class instruction since his night school wages were paid by a third party. Alternatively, it was within the Hearing Officer's discretion to deny Tuttle back pay for his night school work. Accordingly, the Circuit Court's decision should be reversed and the decision of the Hearing Officer and the EAB denying Tuttle back pay for his night school classes should be reinstated.

CONCLUSION