IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2006-CC-01485

JAMES R. TUTTLE

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF SUNFLOWER COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEE (James R. Tuttle, MDOC Employee)

JAMES W. BURGOON, JR. MSB NO. ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

BURGOON & OAKES, P.C. 101-103 FULTON STREET POST OFFICE DRAWER 1640 GREENWOOD, MS 38935-1640 TELEPHONE: (662) 453-7373 FACSIMILE: (662) 453-7378

Oral Argument Not Requested

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

In its brief, Appellant's statement of the issue is erroneous in that it assumes third party employment is an issue. It is not. There was no proof of such third party employment.

The issue presented by this appeal may be stated as follows:

Whether a MDOC employee who was terminated but subsequently reinstated by order of the MEAB is entitled to full back pay and benefits?

Or, stated more precisely, whether a MDOC employee paid through Mississippi Delta Community College for teaching night school classes at MDOC is entitled to back pay for his salary following reinstatement of his employment where the evidence established that MDOC reimbursed MDCC for such salary and the fringe benefits associated therewith?

Appellee submits that both questions should be answered in the affirmative under the record of the evidence and the applicable law and that the decision of the Circuit Court below reversing the Order of the Employee Appeals Board should be affirmed because the decision of the Appeals Board was contrary to and against the undisputed and uncontradicted evidence and was not supported by the law. Additionally, the decision of the Employee Appeals Board was not supported by any evidence; was arbitrary, capricious, and was in violation of the law and the previous order of the hearing officer which awarded Appellee all back pay following his reinstatement.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

NATURE OF CASE

This is an appeal by the Mississippi Department of Corrections from the Order of the Circuit Court of Sunflower County reversing the final decision of the Mississippi Employee Appeals Board which declined to enforce the previous order of the hearing officer awarding appellee all of his back pay following the termination and reinstatement of his employment.

BACKGROUND AND PROCEEDINGS BELOW

Appellee, James R. Tuttle, was employed as a Correctional Vocational Education Instructor by the Mississippi Department of Corrections where he taught diesel mechanics to inmates at the Parchman Vocational Center operated by the prison. As part of his employment, he also taught night school classes to inmates from 3:30 until 7:30 four nights a week. On April 20, 2004, his employment was terminated by MDOC, and he was forbidden to go on prison grounds except for his place of residence (R1:21; RE:6).

After a hearing before the MEAB (Honorable Falton O. "Sonny" Mason, Jr.), his employment was reinstated with <u>all</u> back pay and benefits. MDOC paid the portion of his back pay for his regular day school but did not reimburse him for the salary he would have earned as a vocational instructor at the night school conducted by MDOC.

Thereafter Appellee filed his Motion to Enforce Order Requiring Payment of Portion of Back Pay Withheld Following Reinstatement, seeking the remainder of his back pay in the amount of \$12,880.00, representing the amount he would have earned as a night school instructor but for his termination and being barred from the penitentiary grounds. A hearing on the motion was conducted at Parchman before Honorable Falton O. "Sonny" Mason, Jr., hearing officer, who denied the motion on the grounds that the funds used to pay the employee came from a third party, not the MDOC, even though the evidence established that MDOC reimbursed the third party for all expenditures connected with the employment (R1:24; 33). Thereafter, the full MEAB affirmed the order of the hearing officer. Appellee then appealed to the Circuit Court of Sunflower County which conducted a thorough and painstaking review of the record before the MEAB, and in a well written five page order, held that the Appellee met his burden of proof and reversed the order of the MEAB and concluded that Appellee was, in fact, an employee of MDOC and thus entitled to all of his back pay (R2:9-13; RE:3).

At the hearing before the MEAB hearing officer, Appellee, James R. Tuttle offered his testimony, that of June Williams, the personnel coordinator with Mississippi Delta Community College, and the exhibits introduced into evidence. The responding agency Appellant, MDOC, offered no proof whatsoever.

The facts established by the record are as follows:

FACTS

James R. Tuttle, the Appellee, a Correctional Vocational Education Instructor with the MDOC, was terminated from his employment on April 20, 2004. His suspension and termination notice

except to go to his residence (Exhibit "1") (R1:4-5). After a hearing, the employee was reinstated with full back pay and benefits. MDOC paid a portion of his back pay and benefits but did not pay the salary he would have earned as a Vocational Instructor at the night school conducted by MDOC.

Appellee Tuttle thereupon filed his Motion to Enforce the Order Requiring Back Payment of his Salary of \$12,880.00 as night class instructor from March through December, 2004 (R1:24-25).

At the hearing, it was established that Appellee, in addition to his full time job as a vocational instructor, had been employed by MDOC for several years as a night school instructor in diesel mechanics where he taught inmates from 3:30 p.m. to 7:30 p.m. at the penitentiary. His salary for the night school classes was paid through Mississippi Delta Community College, but the salary of all the night school instructors, including expenses, was reimbursed to the college by MDOC. [See the testimony of June Williams and Exhibit "4" and

"5"] (R3:2-12; R3:13-30; ARE - Tab 2).

ARGUMENT

A. RECORD ESTABLISHES THAT APPELLEE WAS MDOC EMPLOYEE

In its brief, Appellant MDOC argues that Appellee Tuttle's employment as a night school instructor at the Vocational Center was not a part of his employment with MDOC but rather constituted employment with a third party, MDCC.

The hearing officer apparently adopted this theory in that in denying the employee's motion he concluded that "the funds come from a third party, not from the Mississippi Department of Corrections," even though MDOC reimbursed MDCC for the salaries and expenses.

The record in this case emphatically establishes that Appellee was an employee of MDOC and not MDCC.

A. Appellee testified that he was employed by MDOC (T. 1 & 2; ARE - Tab 1);

- B. June Williams, the payroll clerk with MDCC testified that MDCC was reimbursed by MDOC for all night school instructors' salaries, the employer's share of FICA, retirement, unemployment compensation, plus a 5% administrative fee (T. 15; ARE Tab 2);
- C. The check for reimbursement for the above night school expenditures was from MDOC to MDCC (T. 15; ARE Tab 4);
- D. June Williams testified that the Appellee was <u>not</u> an employee of MDCC (T. 17-20; ARE Tab 2);
- E. Williams testified that MDOC selects the instructors for the night school, not MDCC (T.25; <u>1 bid</u>);
- F. Exhibit #4 A March 18, 1999 letter from MDOC to MDCC states in part that "the State Personnel Bard has ruled that <u>our staff</u> that teaches in the evening programs can be paid the same hourly rate <u>as their full time job pays</u> (emphasis added) (ARE Tab 4);

Note: Exhibit #4 goes on to explain the arrangement between MDOC and MDCC regarding reimbursement for the expenses of the night school program since the State Personnel Board had previously ruled that MDOC could not pay these funds directly to their employees. See the testimony at page 20 of the transcript.

G. Exhibit #4 - A March 29, 1999 letter from MDOC to MDCC clearly shows that even though "our twelve evening program instructors" will be placed on MDCC's payroll the expenses will be reimbursed by MDOC. The next to last sentence of MDOC Commissioner Anderson's letter states: "Any worker's compensation claims filed by evening instructors will be processed by our agency". (emphasis supplied) (ARE - Tab 3).

The above statements in the exhibits are admissions by MDOC that Appellee, one of the night school instructors, was an employee of MDOC and, as such, MDOC is bound thereby and cannot be heard to contend otherwise.

One of the great maxims of the common law is that the law looks to substance, not form. That MDOC entered into a contractual arrangement with MDCC whereby the MDOC night instructors could continue teaching in MDOC's vocational program but be paid directly by MDCC and thereafter reimbursed by MDOC in order to get around a State Personnel Board ruling that MDOC could not pay its instructors directly for night school teaching, does not negate the fact that the night school instructors were, in fact, employees of MDOC.

The Court should look to who ultimately paid the employees, not to how the funds were routed through a different agency. It cannot be disputed that MDOC ultimately provided the funds for its night school program employees.

Borrowing from the law of worker's compensation, a field closely related to the state personnel laws, the Supreme Court has repeatedly examined the substance of employment relationships, as opposed to the form, to determine that an employee, regardless of contract and arrangements stating otherwise, is entitled to the benefits of the employment relationship. This is clearly set forth in the case of Boyd v. Crosby Lumber & Mfg. Co., 166 So.2d 106 (Miss. 1964), and cases therein reviewed and cited. For additional rational for finding that a worker is, in fact, an employee although called an independent contractor, see Note, Worker's Compensation - Tests Applied to Determine Whether Logger is Independent Contractor or Employee, 36 MLJ 266 (March, 1965).

It is highly significant to note in the case sub judice that:

MDOC hired Appellee;

MDOC controlled his work;

MDOC directed his activity;

MDOC, in fact, terminated Appellee (but, he was reinstated).

It is also noteworthy that MDOC exercised all of its rights as an employer, albeit erroneously, under the state personnel law and policies.

To say that Appellee was not an employee of MDOC not only flies in the face of logic and reason but it also contrary to the undisputed evidence in the record.

To conclude, as the hearing officer and the Full Board apparently did, that Appellee Tuttle was an employee of MDCC, not MDOC, because his pay check came directly from MDCC even though it was ultimately reimbursed by MDOC, is specious and relies on form over substance, contrary to the facts and the law.

In the record before the Court, there is not an iota of evidence that Appellee was an employee of MDCC. The fiction (form) of routing the money to pay the full time MDOC instructors for additional night school classes through MDCC for payment, does not negate the fact that these instructors were, in fact and in law, employees of MDOC and that Appellee, therefore, is entitled to the salary he would have earned as a night school instructor for MDOC, but for his termination.

As a matter of fact, the <u>only</u> mention of Appellee being employed by a "third party" and not MDOC is contained in the Response filed by MDOC (R. 33), as follows:

- 3. Appellant's employment as a vocational instructor at the Vocational Center is not part of his employment with MDOC, but rather constitutes employment with a third party.
- 4. MDOC has never compensated the Appellant for his position as a vocational instructor at the Vocational Center.

This pleading, of course, is not evidence, and there was no testimony from any source that Appellee was employed by any agency other than MDOC or that he was ultimately paid by any agency other MDOC. In truth and in fact, the record established by uncontradicted and undisputed evidence that (1) Appellee Tuttle was employed by MDOC, and (2) Appellee Tuttle's salary was ultimately paid by MDOC.

Had MDOC wished to argue that Appellee was employed by a third party, it could have and should have offered proof of such employment. Instead, it offered no evidence of any kind whatsoever.

B. REINSTATED MDOC EMPLOYEE ENTITLED TO FULL BACK PAY

Even though the record empathically establishes that Appelee Tuttle was an employee of MDOC, which fact is conceded in its brief, MDOC, in its desperate attempt to avoid paying Tuttle <u>all</u> of his back pay, boldly asserts that Tuttle was paid by a third party, i.e. MDCC, and weakly suggests, contrary to the evidence, that he must be considered an employee of MDCC. The Department blatantly asserted that there is sufficient evidence to show that Tuttle's wages were paid by a third party. What evidence? The Department offered none. To the contrary, the evidence in the record overwhelmingly

establishes that MDOC ultimately provided the funds for Appellee Tuttle's salary and fringe benefits.

A careful examination of Exhibits 4 and 5 in evidence leaves no doubt that (1) the night school instructors at the penitentiary were, in fact, employees of MDOC and would continue to be such; and (2) that MDOC, regardless of where the funds originated, reimbursed MDCC for the salaries and fringe benefits of its night school instructors. The check for such reimbursement was from MDOC, *infra*.

Throughout this procedure, MDOC has adroitly attempted to avoid paying Appellee Tuttle his night school wages by hiding behind a fiction of its own making. As pointed out hereinabove, MDOC initiated, implemented, and followed a scheme whereby its employees in the night school could continue to be paid their salaries through the community college because at one point the State Personnel Board had ruled that MDOC could not directly pay its full time instructors for additional part time work. Ingeniously, the Department worked out an arrangement with MDCC for the salaries to be paid by MDCC and

then reimbursed by MDOC. This arrangement has been in place for several years, and was the procedure followed at the time Appellee Tuttle was improperly terminated. This can be clearly seen by examining Exhibit "#4" which consists of two letters from the MDOC to MDCC setting up the procedure, and Exhibit "#5" which contains checks from MDOC to MDCC covering the expenses for salaries and fringe benefits for MDOC's night school instructors.

C. MDOC NOT A "THIRD" PARTY PROVIDED
THE FUNDS FOR SALARIES OF ITS
NIGHT SCHOOL INSTRUCTORS

In this case, MDOC takes the highly superficial position that the funds paying the salary of the night school instructors came from a third source, supposedly meaning that the funds were not those of MDOC.

Again, looking at Exhibit "4", consisting of letters in 1999, it can clearly be seen that prior to that date MDOC used grant funds from the Department of Education and funds in the Inmate Welfare Fund to pay the salaries of its full time instructors for their part time night

school teaching, but in order to get around a state personnel ruling that the department could not continue paying them directly, these funds were routed through MDCC's system so that MDOC's instructors could continue to be paid.

It should be noted that <u>all</u> funds of MDOC come from "third" sources. It is well known that MDOC receives funds from (1) appropriations by the legislature; (2) grants; (3) inmate canteen fund; (4) earnings from its farm operations; and (5) other sources, such as rebates from phone usage. The point is, regardless by where MDOC obtained the funds, MDOC provided the money to pay the salaries of its night school instructors.

In its brief, MDOC states that Tuttle provided absolutely no supporting authority for his contention that he is entitled to back pay.

The Order of the Hearing Officer in this cause reinstating Appellee Tuttle dated January 4, 2005 [Exhibit "B" to Motion to Enforce Order] states: "The Appealing Party has sustained his burden of proof, and is hereby reinstated to his previous position, with

all back pay and benefits . . . ".

Here, MDOC did not pay him all of his back pay. The aforesaid order is the law of the case and should be enforced.

What authority is needed to enforce that order? Unquestionably, Appellee Tuttle was an employee of MDOC. He was paid from funds coming from MDOC, although routed through MDCC to permit the MDOC to get around a ruling from the personnel board that the department could not directly pay its full time employees for part time work.

The statute, §25-9-132 of the Code, authorizes a reversal of the Employee Appeals Board if its decision:

- (a) Is not supported by any substantial evidence;
- (b) Is arbitrary or capricious; or
- (c) Is in violation of some statutory or constitutional right of the employee.

In Gill v. Department of Wildlife Conservation, 574 So.2d 586, 591 (Miss. 1990), the Supreme Court established and stated that a decision

of an administrative agency which is unsupported by any evidence is by definition arbitrary and capricious.

Here, the agency (MDOC) offered no evidence whatsoever.

Again, in MS Dept. Of Health v. Natchez Comm. Hosp., 743 So.2d 973, 977 (Miss. 1999), stated:

If an administrative agency's decision is not based on substantial evidence, it necessarily follows that the decision is arbitrary and capricious. An administrative agency's decision is arbitrary when it is not done according to reason and judgment, but depending on the will alone. Burks v. Amite County Sch. Dist., 708 So.2d 1366, 1370, 125 Ed. Law Rep. 1012 (Miss. 1998). An action is capricious if done without reason, in a whimsical manner, implying either a lack of understanding of or disregard for the surrounding facts and settled controlled principles. Id. (emphasis added)

Here, the Circuit Court held that the decision of the Hearing Officer and the MEAB was not supported by any evidence, substantial or otherwise. In fact, the decision was contrary to the evidence. The decision was arbitrary and capricious because there was nothing in the record to support it. Finally, the MEAB order deprived the

employee (Tuttle) of his back pay contrary to the order of the hearing officer awarding him all back pay and was a violation of the employee's statutory and constitutional rights.

In its callous effort to avoid paying Appellee Tuttle's full back pay, MDOC at page 8 of its brief weakly asserts that under the law the award of back pay is discretionary with the Board. MDOC interpretation of the statute and rule is erroneous and misplaced. While it may or may not be true that the MEAB in the first instance has some discretion with respect to back pay, MDOC overlooks or ignores the fact that the order of the MEAB reinstating his employment awarded Appellee all of his back pay. In other words, the hearing officer exercised his discretion and awarded full back pay. Appellee is entitled to the remainder of his pay.

D. MDOC'S ACTION BARRING APPELLEE FROM PLACE OF WORK RENDERS IT LIABLE FOR SALARY

Finally, there is yet another independent reason why MDOC is liable for Appellee's salary as a night school instructor. Even if

Appellee should be held to be an employee of MDCC for teaching the night school classes, which he was not, the action of MDOC in not only terminating his employment but also barring him from the penitentiary grounds prevented Appellee from working at the night school, and the action of MDOC barring him from the work site renders the department liable for the salary he would have earned but for his termination.

CONCLUSION

MDOC's contention that its employee (Appellee Tuttle) was paid by a "Third Party" is flawed and fallacious, which can be clearly seen from the fact that MDOC, not a third party, terminated his employement! He was reinstated but not paid all of his back pay. In view of the evidence in the record, it is submitted by Appellee that the action of his employer, MDOC, in refusing to reinstate his back pay as a night school instructor for the department was arbitrary, capricious, against the evidence, and merited the relief granted by the

Circuit Court.

This Court should, therefore, affirm the action of the Circuit Court.